Overweight and Obesity in Children:

A Review of the Literature

Jaqui Hewitt-Taylor Practice Development Fellow (Children with Complex and Continuing Health Needs)

> Professor Jo Alexander Reader in Midwifery

John McBride Senior Lecturer (Health Promotion)

July 2004

© Institute of Health and Community Studies Bournemouth University Overweight and Obesity in Children: A Review of the Literature

Contents

	Page
Executive Summary	5
Introduction	6
The Effects of Childhood Overweight and Obesity	
Factors Influencing Overweight and Obesity in Children	
Interventions	18
Health Care Professionals	
Recommendations	
References	
Appendices	
1. Boy's BMI Chart	43
2. Girl's BMI Chart	44
3. Healthy Eating Guidance (Sign 2003)	45

Overweight and Obesity in Children: A Review of the Literature

Executive Summary

Childhood overweight and obesity are increasingly significant problems, and ones that are likely to endure and to have long term adverse influences on the health of individuals and populations unless action is taken to reverse the trend.

A number of factors have been suggested as contributing to the development of childhood obesity. These include genetic factors, decreasing levels of physical activity, increased time spent in sedentary behaviour and changes in diet. In addition, lifestyle factors, including family influences, changes in society and media advertising, have been associated with the increasing incidence of obesity and overweight in childhood.

To address the problem, health care professionals should incorporate appropriate screening in their child practice. Comprehensive assessment of children who are, or who are at risk of becoming, obese is also necessary.

A range of interventions have been suggested, and although there is no consensus on the best way to prevent and manage childhood obesity, a combination of increasing energy expenditure through exercise, dietary modification, and reduction of sedentary behaviour, appears to be the most effective approach. Breast-feeding is also likely to have a protective influence and should be encouraged. A key element of addressing childhood overweight and obesity is involvement of the whole family and other environments in which children spend significant amounts of time, such as schools and nurseries. The aim of interventions should be to create healthy environments in which a healthy diet and exercise become part of the family's normal daily living.

Given the multifaceted nature of managing overweight and obesity in childhood, health care professionals involved in this area need to be prepared to address potentially difficult issues concerning lifestyle and choices as well as specifics of exercise and nutrition. These are areas in which some health care professionals lack confidence or role clarity. A part of reversing the trends that have led to the international pandemic of childhood obesity will therefore be to support and assist health care professionals in gaining skills and confidence in this area.

Introduction

Kimm (2003) describes childhood obesity as an 'emerging pandemic of the new millennium'. There has been a marked increase in the incidence of obesity in children in the UK over the past 20 years (Wilson 2003, Centre for Reviews and Dissemination 2002) with Caroli and Lagravinese (2002) suggesting that the prevalence of obesity in children and adolescents has doubled and that of overweight children and adolescents has shown an increase of up to 50%. In the USA, obesity is now estimated to affect 20-25% of children and adolescents (Balaban and Silva 2004). It is a worldwide concern (Kaur et al. 2003, Moran and Phillip 2003, Lobstein and Frelut 2003) with the United Kingdom (Wilson 2003), Italy (Gasparrini et al. 2003), New Zealand (Turnbull et al. 2004), South America (Guigliano and Carneiro 2004) Japan (Yoshinaga et al. 2004) and India (Ramachandran et al. 2002) among the countries in which a need for intervention has been identified.

Childhood overweight and obesity are now considered to be major public health problems (Thibault and Rolland-Cachera 2003, Knehans 2002). The increasing prevalence has health consequences likely to adversely affect the lives of a high proportion of the population both in childhood and adulthood. This will represent a significant drain on health care resources if action is not taken to reverse the trend and to assist children and young people who are overweight or obese to improve their health (Ehtisham and Barrett 2004).

This review of the literature identifies the importance of this problem, how it can be identified, the possible causes, interventions and the role of health care professionals.

A search of the available literature on childhood overweight and obesity was performed using:

- Cochrane Library
- Centre for Reviews and Dissemination
- Medline/PubMed
- Ingenta
- OVID

The search terms used were:

- Childhood and obesity
- Childhood and overweight
- Child and obesity
- Child and overweight

- Children and obesity
- Children and overweight

This search yielded over 400 articles, from which those deemed to be most relevant to the prevention and management of childhood overweight and obesity in the United Kingdom were selected.

The criteria for inclusion were that the article should add to the knowledge base that informs the management of childhood obesity or overweight. Articles dealing with obesity in the adult population that inform the debate on obesity in childhood, for example those relating to dietary intake and its effect on body mass, were included. Although articles from outside the developed world were not excluded, as they provide information on the scale of the problem, they were not included in the discussion of interventions or causes because the circumstances and approaches required are significantly different. Articles that were not available in English translation or able to be translated by the team were excluded. The literature included a range of forms of evidence: metaanalyses, single research reports including randomised controlled trails, small non-randomised studies, clinical guidelines, consensus view, expert advice, case studies, demographic information, and physiological principles. This range is necessary to place the problem contextually and to identify the issues involved. It is also appropriate to use these sources as there is a relative paucity of evidence derived from randomised controlled trails with regard to the range of issues covered within this subject area.

The review addresses childhood obesity and overweight only. It does not attempt to discuss the causes of obesity in adulthood, although the effect of childhood obesity in adulthood is alluded to as an important reason for addressing this problem. Unless otherwise stated, the studies used cover the population aged 0 to 18 years.

Definition

If childhood overweight and obesity are to be addressed, they must be defined and diagnostic criteria set to enable health care professionals to identify those who are at risk or affected. Despite the increasing number of children described as overweight or obese, there is a lack of a rigorous scientific definition of these terms and lack of clarity over how they should be assessed (Livieri et al. 2003). However, there are guidelines that can be used to assist health care professionals to determine whether a child is overweight or obese.

Ruxton (2004) and Asayama et al. (2003) define obesity as an excess of body fat, with overweight being seen as a less severe excess of body fat than obesity. Although overweight might logically be thought to refer simply to body weight, weight alone is not considered an accurate measure of whether a problem exists. There are a variety of techniques that can be used to assess the volume of body fat with considerable accuracy. These include underwater weighing (densitometry), multifrequency bioelectrical impedance analysis (BIA) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) (Ruxton 2004). Despite their accuracy, such methods are not appropriate or useful in most clinical situations, and would not be considered practical or desirable as screening tools. In dayto-day paediatric surveillance, the important factors in the tools used to assess whether a child is overweight or obese are ease of use, lack of invasiveness and accuracy of measurement. Easy to obtain measures include weight and height (from which the body mass index [BMI] using weight [kg] divided by height [m²] can be assessed), waist circumference and skinfold thickness (Ruxton 2004). These methods are less exact, but they are practical and generally considered sufficiently reliable (SIGN 2003), particularly when used in conjunction with one another, to enable identification of risk (Ruxton 2004).

In adults, body mass index (BMI) is a common method of assessing whether an individual is considered obese and the definitions of obesity and overweight are agreed. A BMI of greater than 25kg/m² is defined as overweight and a BMI of greater than 30kg/m² is defined as obese. However, for children and young people (under the age of 18 years), no such absolute consensus exists (Ruxton 2004) and BMI derived from weight and height must be interpreted using percentile measures (Kaur et al. 2003, SIGN 2003). Cole et al. (2000) use the principle of the adult BMI cut-off of 30 to be indicative of obesity and 25 as indicative of overweight, and have calculated percentile figures from these for children to estimate overweight or obesity. Thus, as well as using cut-offs in accordance with a percentile measure, it is consistent with the adult definitions of overweight and obesity. Cole et al.'s (2000) tool is considered to be a reasonably accurate measure of obesity or overweight in children aged from two to six (Livieri et al. 2003, Abrantes et al. 2003, Rolland-Cachera 2004), although Ruxton (2004) suggests four years as the lowest age for diagnosis.

Harrell et al. (2003) define obese children as having a BMI above the 98th age and sex specific percentile. The Scottish Intercollegiate Guideline Network (SIGN) (2003) concur with this measurement, stating that for clinical purposes obese children should be regarded as those with a BMI equal to or greater than the 98th percentile and overweight children as

those with a BMI greater than or equal to the 91st percentile. SIGN (2003) acknowledge that this contrasts with the international consensus used for research purposes, which defines obesity as the 95th percentile or above, and overweight as the 85th percentile or above. They suggest that clinicians should be aware that, although the 98th and 91st percentile for obesity and overweight are the currently used norms in the UK, this is unlikely to be set in stone. The most common internationally accepted definition of childhood overweight and obesity is that described by Cole et al. (2000) (Livieri et al. 2003, Abrantes et al. 2003) (see Figures 1 and 2).

Rolland-Cachera (2004) suggests that in addition to identification of a child's current BMI, the use of a predictive BMI curve to identify the development of obesity even when this is not clinically visible may be helpful to allow early intervention in children who are at risk of becoming obese. Eto et al. (2004) nonetheless suggest that using the BMI as the sole indicator of childhood obesity should be done with caution because it may not accurately identify all obese children. Karasalihoglu et al. (2003) and Livieri et al. (2003) highlight ethnic differences among BMI and suggest that each country should produce its own BMI percentiles to take these into account. This is likely to be more problematic in countries that are multi-ethnic or multi-racial, such as the UK, than in countries where the population is relatively homogenous.

Livieri et al. (2003) state that, because obesity is caused by an excess of body fat, methods used to measure body fat such as subcutaneous skinfold thickness can be used to assess obesity. Triceps skinfold can be used to define obesity in children with triceps higher than the 85th percentile for age and gender, using Tanner's tables. Livieri et al. (2003) suggest that this tool should be used in association with BMI measurement. However, they also identify that, despite its potential usefulness, measuring skinfold thickness requires training and the use of appropriate equations to transform measurements into percentage body fat, making it slightly less easy to use in day-to-day practice and for routine screening than BMI.

Waist circumference has also been suggested as a method for assessing obesity, with McCarthy et al. (2001) providing estimated waist measurement percentiles for boys and girls from 5 to 16.9 years of age. However, these have yet to be validated by further studies, and do not appear as reliable or valid a measure or predictor of obesity as BMI percentiles or subcutaneous skinfold thickness (SIGN 2003).

Although they are not infallible, and do not indicate the cause of overweight or obesity, BMI measures are a useful first point of problem

identification. The percentiles and classifications recommended by Cole et al. (2000) are currently considered the most reliable and valid and should therefore be used at this point in time. They can be incorporated into routine screening and developmental assessments, for example at 18 months, three and a quarter years and four plus years pre-school assessment, or if a child presents for another reason that merits investigation for overweight or obesity.

The Effects of Childhood Overweight and Obesity

Balaban and Silva (2004) and Caballero (2001) identify that childhood obesity increases the risk of poor health in childhood, the development of obesity in adults and subsequent obesity-related health problems in adulthood.

During childhood, Graf et al. (2004) suggest that overweight and obesity are associated with poorer gross motor development and Davidson et al. (2003) identify that children who are obese may be more prone to orthopaedic problems. Type two diabetes, traditionally viewed as a disease of adulthood, is now seen with increasing incidence in the paediatric population and has been linked with childhood obesity (Pinhas-Hamiel and Zeitler 2000, Hotu et al. 2004). Kelley et al. (2004) and Harrell et al. (2003) claim that the changes which result in cardiovascular disease, such as atherosclerotic changes, can begin in early childhood and Al Sendi et al. (2003) identify that adolescent obesity is associated with raised blood pressure. Thus, the physiological changes associated with later cardiovascular disease development seem to be evident in overweight or obese children and adolescents, resulting in the potential for early development of cardiovascular disease. Childhood obesity has also been linked to an increased risk of orthopaedic disorders, respiratory problems and diabetes in adulthood (Balaban and Silva 2004, Caballero 2001).

As well as physiological changes resultant on overweight and obesity, which appear to commence in childhood, obese children are thought to be more prone to psychological distress than non-obese children, and the effect is greater for girls than boys. (Phillips and Hill 1998). Obesity in childhood and adolescence is also associated with poor self esteem, eating disorders and body dissatisfaction (Neumark-Sztainer and Hannan 2000).

As well as such adverse effects, the habits and behaviours established in childhood are hard to change at a later stage (Caroli and Lagravinese 2002). Thus, preventing or reversing habits and lifestyle choices that predispose to poor health in childhood seems preferable and more likely to be successful than attempting to address them in adulthood.

Factors Influencing Overweight and Obesity in Children

The cause of overweight and obesity in children is thought to be a complex dynamic of the balance between energy intake and expenditure in the context of an individual's environment, behaviour and genes (Clement et al. 2002, Kimm 2003, Balaban and Silva 2004). The links between genetics and environmental factors in obesity in children are particularly difficult to disentangle from one another because children often have similar eating habits and approaches to physical activity as their parents (Oliveria et al. 1992, Nguyen et al. 1996).

- Genetic factors Warden and Warden (2001) identified 15 chromosomal loci linked to weight, body fat and other obesity related traits in humans. They state that seven genes have been identified as causing obesity in humans and that, in most cases, obesity results from interactions between multiple genes, not the action of a single gene. In exceptional cases, mutations of the leptin gene and its receptors or mutation of melanocortin receptor 4 have been described. These 'obesity genes' encode proteins that are strongly connected as part of the loop regulating food intake. They all involve the leptin axis and one of its hypothalamic targets, the melanocortin pathway. Thus, successful leptin protein replacement in a leptin deficient child may have potential for reduction of obesity (Clement et al. 2002, Bell Anderson and Bryson 2004).
- An individual's first nutritional experiences are believed to influence Breast-feeding susceptibility to certain chronic diseases, including obesity (Waterland and Garza 1999, Waterland and Garza 2002). Balaban and Silva (2004) suggest that it has long been hypothesised that breast-feeding may help protect against obesity. They suggest that despite the genetic link to obesity there may be a critical period of development which causes mutations in the expression of certain genes. Waterland and Garza (2002) suggest that such early metabolic imprinting may occur by changing the structure of certain organs, for example by altering vascularisation, innervation or the juxtaposition of cell types inside an organ, effecting changes in the number of cells and metabolic differentiation. Thus, changes in expression of certain genes may cause changes in production of, for example, enzymes, hormones and transmembrane transporters, which may result in predisposition to obesity. This theory would mean that nutritional experiences in the prenatal or early neonatal period might affect whether an individual later becomes obese. Breast-feeding is one of the earliest nutritional

experiences and the unique composition of breast milk could be involved in metabolic imprinting (Balaban and Silva 2004).

Alternative biological mechanisms could also account for an increased risk of adiposity in non-breast-fed infants. These include the protein intake in breast-fed infants being significantly lower than in formula fed infants because a high protein intake at ten months of age has been linked with a high BMI later in childhood (Rolland-Cachera et al. 1995). Thus, there is a suggestion that breast-feeding may constitute preventative action for avoiding overweight or obesity in childhood and later life. In addition to the potential physiological effects of breast-feeding on later obesity, the behavioural aspects, such as development of the mother-child relationship, may assist a smoother dietary transit and formation of healthy eating habits (Balaban and Silva 2004).

There is evidence to support the link between breast-feeding and the prevention of childhood obesity. Kramer et al. (1985a, 1985b) found breast-feeding to be protective against obesity at ages 12 and 24 months. Gillman et al. (2001) found that children who had been breast-fed for six months or more were less likely to become obese and von Kries et al. (1999), Liese et al. (2001), and Armstrong et al. (2002) all support the suggestion that there is a lower incidence of obesity in breast-fed infants. Bergmann et al. (2003) showed that early bottle-feeding produces rebound obesity, predictive of obesity in later life. Kramer (1981) and Tulldahl et al. (1999) also found that breast-feeding appeared to have a protective effect against the development of obesity in adolescence. In Kramer's (1981) study, breast-feeding was considered to have ceased if the child was bottle feed more than once a day.

Conversely, Zive et al. (1992), O'Callaghan et al. (1997) and Wadsworth et al. (1999) found no significant differences in adiposity in children who were or were not breast-fed at age four, five and six years respectively. Fomon et al. (1984) also found no difference in adiposity in children aged eight who were breast-fed in comparison with those who were not, although there is some lack of clarity in this study over whether those who were cited as breast-fed were exclusively breast-fed (Balaban and Silva 2004). Li et al. (2003), using data from the offspring of the 1958 British birth cohort, found no support for a protective effect of breastfeeding on obesity. Again in contrast, Agras et al. (1990) suggest that breast-feeding for more than five months is associated with greater adiposity at age six years, although this study had a high loss of follow-up participants. An editorial by Clifford (2003) points out that randomised controlled trials cannot be conducted in this area and that the largely observational studies that have been reported are subject to large numbers of confounding influences, which may explain the inconsistent results; for example, retrospective reporting of breast-feeding, inadequate sample sizes and ill-defined and disparate end points. Her conclusion is that the possibility of breast-feeding having a protective effect remains and 'that even if [that effect] is small the public health impact can be tremendous' (p879).

Energy balance Increased energy intake and decreased energy expenditure are often seen as the major causes of obesity. Some authors nonetheless report no difference in energy intake between obese and non-obese individuals (Atkin and Davies 2000, Troiano et al. 2000). However, it is possible that self reports of dietary intake confound such findings (Balaban and Silva 2004) and indeed Strauss (1999) claims that obese adults generally under report the amount they eat. Fox (2004) suggests that self reports are especially unreliable in children, particularly regarding less memorable eating, which may include incidental snacks.

Whether the resting basal metabolic rates of obesity-prone people are lower than those of lean people is a source of debate and important in the prevention and treatment of obesity. This links with the debate on the genetics of obesity, as such traits, if proven, could possibly be genetically modulated. However, Strauss (1999) states that in most obese adults no significant measurable differences in metabolism can be detected and that, contrary to expectations, overweight adults often had higher metabolic rates than lean people. These findings are relevant to childhood overweight or obesity in that they question the assumption that a low basal metabolic rate is a common cause of overweight.

The role of lipids in obesity rather than overall energy intake has also been debated. Chen et al. (2002) found that dietary fat intake is a risk factor in the development of childhood obesity. This reflects the findings of three meta-analyses of randomised clinical trials in adults which identify that reducing the intake of dietary fat causes a significant reduction in body weight (Astrup 2002). However, Willet (2002) identifies that, despite a reduction in fat consumption in the USA (across the population, including adults and children), the incidence of obesity has increased and suggests that other factors, such as diminishing exercise levels, may account for the increased incidence of obesity. However, Aihaud and Guesnet (2004) claim that although the absolute fat content of diets may be unchanged, or may even be reduced, an increase in polyunsaturated fatty acids may account for these apparently

14

contradictory findings. Polyunsaturated fats are potent in adiposegenesis in vivo during the gestation and lactation periods and thus changes in the fatty acid composition of ingested fats, rather than the total fat content of ingested food, may be important in the development of obesity and overweight across populations, in both adults and children (Aihaud and Guesnet 2004).

Patterns of eating may also contribute to overweight and obesity. It has been suggested that inadequate family meal patterns may contribute to early obesity (Giugliano and Carneiro 2004) and that having the television on during mealtimes is associated with poor quality food intake in children (Coon et al. 2001). Snacking between meals has been debated as a contributory factor to the development of overweight and obesity in childhood. However, Ruxton et al. (1996) report no significant differences between body fat in seven and eight-year-old children between those classified as 'high' and 'low' snackers and Gibson (1996) shows no absolute association between snacking and obesity. Hampl et al. (2003) suggest that the type of food consumed as snacks, rather than snacks per se, should be the focus. Although it appears that childhood overweight and obesity are not solely determined by energy intake and output, St Onge et al. (2003) suggest that, as children's BMI has increased, so has their consumption of fast foods and soft drinks. They report that the proportion of food consumed by children from restaurants and fast food outlets in the USA increased by nearly 300% between 1977-1996. Fox (2004) identifies that children and young people are increasingly exposed to environmental stimuli that promote poor dietary habits and decreased energy expenditure.

Inactivity has been associated with obesity but causality has yet to be Sedentary established (Livingstone et al. 2003). Tremblay and Willms (2003) and Behaviour Giugliano and Carneiro (2004) suggest a link between physical inactivity and obesity and Vandewater et al. (2004) found that heavier children generally spent more time in sedentary activities. However, levels of physical activity are hard to measure in adults and even more problematic in children due to their more complex and multidimensional activity patterns (Livingstone et al. 2003). Moore et al. (2003) used a device that children wore to record total physical activity levels, and thus, unlike some measures, included organised activity and incidental activity (although the device had to be removed for swimming or bathing) enabling them to more accurately measure children's total activity. They identified that children who have the greatest daily activity from ages four to eleven years have consistently smaller weight gain, BMI, triceps and sum of skinfold throughout childhood. Although there is a problem over what is deemed to constitute an acceptable level of physical activity

(Livingstone et al. 2003), Reilly and McDowell (2003) identify an increasing body of evidence to support the suggestion that tackling physical inactivity is key to managing childhood obesity.

As well as general levels of sedentary activity, television viewing has been specifically linked with obesity (Livingstone et al. 2003, Spagnoli et al. 2003). This is in part due to the reduction in sedentary behaviour that can be achieved by substituting television watching for more active pursuits, but also the reduction in exposure to food-related advertising if television viewing is reduced (Caroli and Lagravinese 2002). It has been estimated that in the USA children and adolescents are likely to watch 22,000 television commercials each year (Caroli and Lagravinese 2002). In Europe, there is scant evidence to support links between television viewing and obesity, but food advertising has been shown to be most frequent during children's peak television viewing hours and, among these, cereal, confectionery and savoury snacks account for 60% of all food advertising (Lewis and Hill 1998). Jeffrey et al. (1982) suggest that exposure to adverts for foods of poor nutritional value increases children's requests for and purchase of them.

Media Coakley (2003) identifies that, in the eyes of global corporations, children are a huge billion-dollar market, with advertising therefore likely to be targeted at them. Schwartz and Puhl (2003) suggest that powerful environmental inducements are used by marketing experts to encourage children to eat nutritionally poor food. Thus, although a recommendation may be made that children should be encouraged to eat a healthy diet, parents may be torn between attempting to encourage a healthy lifestyle and a battle against media pressure and children's exposure to unhealthy messages.

Family Although SIGN (2003) identify that there is no recent study in the United Kingdom evaluate the link between parental obesity and the risk of childhood obesity, there is a suggestion that the dietary behaviour and lifestyles of parents have a significant impact on their children. For example, Hodges (2003) suggests that children with active parents are more than six times more likely to be physically active than children whose parents take no exercise. This is not surprising because children are generally provided with or guided in their dietary intake by their parents and siblings, and are influenced in their own food, exercise and leisure time activities by the approaches engaged in by the family as a whole. Thus, all interventions for childhood overweight and obesity should be underpinned by the principle of treating the child as a part of the family.

Family mealtime habits, family dietary patterns and activity levels are thought to influence the development of overweight and obesity in children. However, Bruch (1974) suggests that a severe form of obesity, whose origins are in the first year of life (although this does not necessarily present as obesity at this time) may be due to parents' failure to distinguish their child's physical need of food from other emotional or biological needs. This results in food being used as the only tool to satisfy any of a child's needs. Bruch (1974) suggests that this may result in the child not differentiating needs and emotions and using food as a solution to all their problems. However, emotional eating is also a behaviour seen in non-obese subjects (Bellisle et al. 1990, Caroli et al. 1998) and so cannot be seen as a universal or unequivocal link.

As well as family role modelling, socioeconomic factors are thought to play a part in childhood obesity. Kinra et al. (2000) found a significant relationship between social deprivation and the incidence of childhood obesity and Tomkins (2001) suggest a link between social exclusion, poverty and obesity.

Interventions

Given the increasing incidence of childhood overweight and obesity, careful monitoring of children's growth and development to diagnose obesity and associated disorders is necessary (Ariza et al. 2004). This includes identifying children who are overweight or obese, considering disease or genetic processes that may be at play, investigating dietary input and level of activity, and food-related behaviour, so that assumptions regarding the cause of overweight or obesity are not made.

It is clear that a number of factors affect the development of obesity in childhood. Thus, approaches to prevention and treatment of childhood obesity must encompass the numerous possible causative or predisposing factors. In addition, they must aim to increase the likelihood of compliance with interventions. Reinehr et al. (2003) found that children who were obese and did not receive treatment did not reduce their weight, and that those having single session consultations did not have sustained weight loss. However, weight loss over two years was evident among participants who received long-term specialised treatment. This consisted of physical exercise, nutrition education and behaviour therapy, with regular reviews over the two-year period. Although these findings are from a single study, and not necessarily generalisable, they suggest that sustained intervention and support, which embraces nutrition, exercise, education and food-related behaviour, are necessary to enable children who are overweight to achieve sustained weight loss. They also suggest that ongoing input is necessary.

Despite the undisputed need for interventions to reduce childhood overweight and obesity, Campbell et al. (2001) reviewed literature across eight studies and found limited quality data on the effectiveness of obesity intervention programmes and a lack of generalisable conclusions regarding dietary education and exercise. The Centre for Reviews and Dissemination (2002) identify that there is a lack of good quality evidence on the effectiveness of various strategies related to childhood obesity to inform national strategies or clinical practice. McLennan (2004), Kaur et al. (2003), Suskind et al. (2000), Davidson and Birch (2001) and The Centre for Reviews and Dissemination (2002) nonetheless state that, while there is no absolutely conclusive evidence regarding the best interventions at present, these should include comprehensive management of the issues thought to be involved in the development of obesity, including diet and dietary education, exercise, decreasing sedentary activity, and family-based interventions. Westenhoefer (2002) identifies that, given the problem is one of childhood, education strategies

must be appropriate to the child's stage of cognitive development. This means those providing input being aware of the level of understanding that each child has and being able to communicate with them in appropriate terms.

High compliance is essential to managing childhood obesity (Denzer et al. 2004). Although increased knowledge has been associated with changes in diet and lifestyle in some cases, knowledge without strategies to increase compliance is unlikely to change behaviour in the long term. To be successful, interventions must yield direct, perceivable and immediate benefits (Westenhoefer 2002).

Various specific dietary approaches have been suggested, but none has unequivocal evidence to support its superiority. Gassparini et al. (2003) studied the long-term effects of different dietary treatments and found that a variety of dietary interventions, including low calorie (1200 or 1400 calories a day) and ketogenic diets were effective in reducing obesity. Bailes et al. (2003) found that a high protein, low carbohydrate unlimited calorie diet was more effective than a restricted calorie protocol for weight loss in obese school-aged children. However, influencing factors for success in any dietary regime also included motivation and previous level of knowledge about obesity (Gassparini et al. 2003). Ruxton (2004) considers that it is inappropriate for all but the most extreme cases of childhood obesity to be treated with a calorie-controlled diet as it could potentially limit the child's intake of vitamins and minerals during critical growth periods. She considers that, in the majority of cases, arresting weight gain over a period of months while the child gains height is a safer option.

Increasing the intake of dietary fibre is often linked with reduction of body weight in adults. However, Edwards and Parrett (2003) suggest that there is a lack of clear and well-founded recommendations for dietary fibre intake in childhood. There is a fear that a high fibre diet in children under the age of five may adversely affect growth and cause mineral imbalance, although these fears are not well supported in the literature, especially for children in the developed world. With the increasing incidence of obesity, increased dietary fibre intake may be useful. However, more research is needed into the effects of increased dietary fibre in children before any recommendations can be made.

Westenhoefer (2002) recommends that children and young people should be educated regarding diet and nutrition, to enable them to gain flexible control of eating to remain within the range of acceptable sizes and weights, rather than focusing on specific 'diets'. They recommend

Diet

focusing on a balanced diet, providing of a variety of foods, and including social eating occasions to promote the special meaning and importance of eating, and to enable social learning of food preferences and behaviours. Burniat (2002) and Ruxton (2004) also believe that general guidance on healthy eating with education that enables the child and family to understand the principles of healthy eating rather than specific instructions are the best approaches. The overall message from a dietary perspective seems to be that, in most instances of childhood overweight, what might be broadly considered a 'healthy diet' will be helpful (SIGN 2003, see Figure 3 for details of healthy diet). Ruxton (2004) considers that this will suffice in the majority of cases, and that where children fall into the 'obese' category, they require referral to a paediatric dietician or specialist multidisciplinary team rather than general dietary advice.

Television viewing Television viewing is a form of sedentary behaviour, and thus decreasing television viewing and supplementing other activities may be helpful. In addition, the reduction of exposure to advertisements for unhealthy foods may be beneficial in dietary terms, as viewing such commercials has been shown to increase the request or consumption of unhealthy foods, even in pre-school age children (Borzeskowski and Robinson 2001). Therefore, a recommendation that families address television viewing and consider how this may be replaced by more active pursuits seems reasonable. SIGN (2003) recommend reducing physical inactivity such as watching television or using computer games to less than two hours a day or equivalent of 14 hours per week.

> Given the suggestion that television viewing during mealtimes has been associated with a poorer quality food intake (Coon et al. 2001), having the television off during mealtimes seems an appropriate recommendation.

Physical activity Reilly et al. (2003) suggest that British children now establish a sedentary lifestyle early on and thus interventions to reverse this trend in early childhood are advisable. Some interventions aimed at increasing activity and encouraging less sedentary behaviour have shown encouraging results (Reilly et al. 2003, Graf et al. 2004, Moore et al. 2003). It seems that encouraging leisure time activities involving physical activity rather than television viewing, should be particularly encouraged because of the double risk of sedentary behaviour and exposure to unhealthy messages associated with television commercials.

Graf et al. (2004) recommend early intervention to support exercise and movement and Moore et al. (2003) suggest that interventions to increase children's activity level begun as early as four years of age may be helpful in preventing obesity. Mo-Suwan et al. (1998) describe an intervention using a structured aerobic programme where pre-school children participated in a 15 minute walk before nursery school and a 20 minute dance routine after their afternoon sleep, three times a week. This study, involving 300 children, showed a near-significant decrease in triceps skin folds over time in children who had exceeded the 95th percentile. Thus, there is some evidence that organised physical activity, even in children aged four years, can be helpful in preventing or treating obesity. Moreover, relatively simple activities, such as short walks, even in this age group, appear to contribute to a reduction in obesity.

However, exactly what forms of physical activity are the most advantageous is not clear. Fox (2004) identifies that physical activity in children is hard to quantify, and includes the energy expended in travelling to school, informal play before and after school, at breaks and out of school, organised work such as paper delivery rounds, and organised sport. Tremblay and Willms (2003) identify that increased participation in sport is associated with less obesity in childhood in seven to eleven year olds. Conversely, Mallam et al. (2003) found that the amount of the school day sent in sport did not correlate with levels of obesity and that increasing Physical Education lessons does not necessarily address the problem of obesity and overweight. They also suggest that, unless close attention is given to the management of overweight or obese children in Physical Education lessons, these may be counterproductive as overweight and obese children may not enjoy such lessons and be discouraged from participating in sport by them. A range of activities should be available to encourage all children to participate in sport.

Strategies suggested to increase physical activity include encouraging active commuting to school. However, the effectiveness of this is poorly researched and must be considered alongside reasons for parents' transport choices, including perceived safety issues and time factors (Tudor-Locke et al. 2001). Cooper et al. (2003) nonetheless found a positive correlation between walking to school and physical activity in tenyear-olds, with those walking to school more active over the course of the day than those who did not. One approach introduced in some areas is the concept of 'walking buses' whereby children are escorted in walking groups to school. The initial aim of this was primarily to decrease traffic congestion. However, it also has the potential to increase physical activity without placing a burden on parents to walk to school, which may be problematic from a lifestyle perspective and with regard to other child care arrangements. Such schemes are not available in all areas and their effectiveness in relation to childhood health has not been evaluated. They nonetheless form an option for increasing active commuting to school.

All pursuits involving activity are likely to be beneficial in combating childhood obesity. A part of holistic care of the child and family is identifying the activities most likely to succeed for individuals, for example walking or cycling to school, participating in sports, or engaging in more active breaktime activities at school rather than computer games. Ruxton (2004) suggests encouraging children to participate in active children's clubs, for example Scouts or Guides, or to join other family members in sports such as walking or swimming. Simple activities requiring minimum lifestyle changes should also be encouraged, such as walking up stairs instead of using lifts (SIGN 2003).

Again, family involvement is important, and encouraging whole families to adopt a less sedentary lifestyle seems important in assisting children to achieve this (Hodges 2003). Education of children and their families concerning increasing physical activity is important for them to understand this in relation to body weight. Their involvement is essential to enable them to select lifestyle changes that they will be able to accommodate and sustain.

Behavioural Behavioural approaches to weight reduction as well as physical interventions have been suggested. Braet and Crombez (2003) suggest that some obese children respond in a specific manner to food words and are hypersensitive to food cues. The suggestion that food may be used by some children to satisfy emotional as well as hunger needs (Bruch 1974) suggests that some obese children may require assistance to identify their needs, to differentiate food needs from other needs, and to develop alternative strategies to cope with emotional needs.

This is not the case for all obese or overweight children, and emphasises the need for comprehensive assessment of the cause of overweight or obesity in individual cases. Behavioural approaches requiring psychologist input aimed at altering responses to food words or cues, or the emotional use of food, may be useful. However, this falls within the remit of specialist staff and is not something recommended for the nonspecialist. Non-specialist health care staff should seek to identify children's eating habits and behaviours, and from this derive information to enable them to see when referral is appropriate.

Family interventionsPinhas-Hamiel and Zeitler (2000), Zametkin et al. (2004) and Ariza et al.
(2004) suggest that the treatment of childhood obesity must involve
education and motivation of the whole family. Family involvement may

need to begin with recognition of the problem. Etelson et al. (2003) claim that many parents of overweight children do not perceive their children as overweight. Strategies to reduce obesity or overweight must therefore include helping parents to recognise this and to perceive it as problematic.

It seems unlikely that a child or young person will be able to easily alter their lifestyle and food choices if their family do not act as enabling influences in this. McLennan (2004) suggests that family involvement is especially important in primary school-aged children where the majority of their eating and out of school activities are undertaken with the family. Golan and Weizman (2001) suggest an approach to treating childhood obesity that integrates behaviour related to nutrition and sedentary activity. It emphasises parents acting as a source of authority and as role models, and includes them providing a family environment that fosters healthy mealtime habits and exercise, incorporating healthy activities into the family lifestyle. This encourages participation from the family as whole, rather than personal blame or responsibility being attributed to the child. The intention is for the whole family to create an environment where healthy eating and appropriate activity levels are the norm, not an intervention. Consequently, successful interventions related to childhood obesity appear to require working with families as a whole and considering the knowledge base on which their choices are made. Consideration should also be given to the financial, social and organisational issues involved in changing the family's approaches to activities linked with the development of obesity.

Obesity in adults and children has been linked with poverty. There is a suggestion that less nutritious foods are less expensive, and that families struggling to gain adequate incomes do not have the time or resources to prepare nutritious meals, or to enjoy family mealtimes and healthy leisure time activities. Thus, any discussion of changes in lifestyle must include identification of factors external to diet and activity per se that impinge on these. Resolutions must be devised with these factors in mind so that realistic interventions can be made, which are manageable within the real life of the family.

School-based As well as the family, school has a significant influence on children, and so school-based strategies to combat childhood overweight and obesity may be useful. Wehling and McCarthy (2002) suggest that school-based education programmes about healthy diet and lifestyles can improve knowledge, and Kaur et al. (2003) consider school-based interventions useful as they have the potential to reach large numbers of children. However, they acknowledge that these are expensive and require follow up to be effective.

School-based interventions, like other interventions, must include factors likely to influence health-related behaviour as well as information giving if they are to succeed. This includes: the structure of the school day, to encourage activity and reduce sedentary behaviour (Fox 2004); provision of a range of activities to suit children who enjoy competitive sports, but also to enable activities such as walking or cycling in those who do not (Fox 2004); food choices at school (St Onge et al. 2003); and pricing of healthy food choices in comparison with unhealthy ones (St Onge et al. 2003). Thus, as well as education, school ethos and policy are important factors in preventing and treating childhood obesity (Carter and Swinburn 2004). Sahota et al. (2001) showed some improvement in BMI in children who engaged in a school-based programme designed to influence physical activity and diet as well as knowledge. This included teacher training, modification of school meals, and implementation of school action plans to promote healthy eating and physical activity. Thus, it appears that strategies embracing every aspect of school life are the most likely to be effective.

The child's wellbeing As well as interventions aimed at reducing obesity, the child's overall well-being must be taken into account. Berg et al. (2003) and Golan and Crow (2004) suggest a health-centred rather than weight-centred approach to diet and lifestyle modification as important factors in enabling children and young people to achieve weight loss. They recommend approaches that emphasise living actively, eating in a healthy way, and that focus on the whole child – mentally, physically and socially. Westenhoefer (2002) identifies that education about overweight and obesity should include providing children and young people with reassurance about the range of healthy and acceptable body weights and shapes. Zametkin et al. (2004) also emphasise the need to help obese children build a positive self image and to help them lead full lives regardless of their weight.

Social and political influences Fox (2004) suggests that children are immersed in lifestyles and cultures that make unhealthy food and drink increasingly available, reduce the opportunity to expend energy and increase the time spent in sedentary pursuits such as television viewing. Such transitions in society's accepted norms of behaviour have coincided with the epidemic of obesity in childhood and adolescence, making the link between the two appear important.

> Although involvement of child, family and school seems to be essential in managing childhood obesity, given the influences of society and the media on eating habits, level of activity and other lifestyle issues, it is simplistic to consider that the international epidemic of childhood obesity

> > 24

can be addressed fully without political and economic involvement (Elrick et al. 2002). Davidson and Birch (2001) also suggest that approaches must include the larger contexts of community and society. This includes, for example, giving consideration to the anxieties parents face when attempting to encourage a less sedentary lifestyle, such as the safety of neighbourhoods and play areas (Fox 2004). Political activity aimed at reducing the unhealthy messages that children, young people and their parents receive via the media, as well as addressing issues of safety, form a part of health care professionals' roles in that they affect the best interests of their clients.

Health Care Professionals

Kaur et al. (2003) and Yoshinaga et al. (2004) suggest that there are three critical periods in the development of obesity: prenatal, early childhood (age four to six years) and adolescence. This influences which health care professionals are likely to be the most crucial in preventing and treating childhood obesity. It therefore seems that midwives (who are in contact with mothers antenatally and postnatally), and health visitors, who provide input for families in infancy and during the early childhood years, are particularly vital in preventing or managing childhood obesity.

The important contribution that breast-feeding makes to the health of mothers and babies is well established (American Academy of Pediatrics 1997) and new evidence continues to emerge (Marild et al. 2004; Martin et al. 2004; Sadauskaite-Kuehne et al. 2004). However, its possible protective effect against obesity may provide one further incentive for midwives to encourage and support mothers to initiate and continue breast-feeding. It may also provide health visitors and paediatric nurses with greater motivation to assist mothers to continue to provide infants with breast milk.

Early childhood is also identified as a key risk time for the development of obesity. Hesketh et al. (2004) therefore suggest that targeting children at this point is necessary. Drohan (2002) suggests that the preschool years are a time when food and activity behaviours interact and thus a critical time for intervention and formation of early eating habits. Health visitors therefore have a key role in the identification of at-risk children. Although the literature suggests these three critical periods, the health visitor is involved in the care of the child and family throughout childhood and is well placed to assist them, not only during the 'early childhood' phase, but during infancy. Although a critical period for development of obesity may be between four and six years, habits established before this time are likely to influence behaviour. In addition, education opportunities regarding healthy eating and establishing mealtime behaviours may be especially useful at the time of weaning. Interventions by health visitors throughout infancy may be useful in establishing healthy behaviours and lifestyles to prevent later overweight in children. Given the focus on improving lifestyle, particularly by increasing physical activity, health visitors may need to help parents plan for active travel to preschool and school. They are also likely to be best placed to explore activities and interventions that are practical and manageable in individual family circumstances, as well as assessing risks in a child and their family's lifestyle and appraising whether or not an obesogenic environment exists.

This should form part of the health promotion role of health visitors. Health visitors or general practitioners generally perform developmental checks, and will therefore be involved in using BMI percentile measures to identify at-risk or overweight infants and children.

The prevention and treatment of childhood obesity as an urgent and commonly encountered issue is a relatively recent addition to the role of health care professionals, and not necessarily one with which they are comfortable. Whitaker et al. (2004) identify that health care professionals need increased training opportunities related to the prevention and treatment of childhood obesity. This not only includes nutritional knowledge, but knowledge of the barriers to implementing alterations in diet and activity levels. Their study indicates that dieticians, who are arguably ideally placed to educate children and their families on obesity related-issues, were less likely to identify barriers to successful interventions (such as lack of parental involvement, lack of motivation, and lack of support services) than paediatricians or paediatric nurse practitioners. Given that knowledge alone is unlikely to result in changes in behaviour, there is clearly a need for educating health care professionals to encompass the many factors associated with addressing childhood obesity.

Health care staff in Whitaker et al.'s (2004) study generally felt least confident in managing behavioural techniques, giving guidance on parenting techniques and addressing family conflict than in other areas of obesity management. Given that the complex interactions of family, school, wider society, food consumption, leisure activities, family interactions, beliefs and values are all interlinked influencing factors in obesity management, the education of health care professionals must include how these elements of care can be addressed. This implies that education for health care professionals must move beyond factual information related to disease processes, genetic predisposition, and nutritional intake and energy output. Given that the evidence related to childhood obesity continues to include some areas of uncertainty, health care professionals must also be able to engage in conversations that include unknown factors. This is problematic in many situations in the broad field of medicine, but is nonetheless a necessary part of current health care practice. Whitaker et al. (2004) suggest facilitated group discussion may be useful in such training situations to enable health care professionals to become more confident in engaging in the potentially difficult and complex discussions that appear to be essential for managing childhood overweight and obesity.

Recommendations

It is clear that childhood overweight and obesity are problems likely to endure and to have long term adverse influences on world health if well planned strategies to reduce them are not devised and implemented. Although there is currently limited high quality data on the effectiveness of obesity prevention and treatment programmes (Summerbell et al. 2004), the themes that consistently emerge are that programmes should include the following:

- Assessment This should include identification of children who are, or who are at risk of becoming, obese. The most useful initial screening tool appears to be Cole et al.'s (2000) BMI percentile measure.
- Increasing physical activity This should aim to improve the child and their family's level of activity, and to enable them to engage in activities they will enjoy and be able to incorporate into their lifestyle. This may include participation in sports, but may also involve less strenuous activities such as visiting parks and playgrounds, and clubs involving active pursuits. A variety of activities should be explored with the child and family, to ascertain what would be most enjoyable and practicable for their lifestyle (and thus most likely to produce compliance). This could include swimming, rollerblading, cycling or team activities. Other options to be encouraged and that could be relatively easily incorporated into daily routines include walking up stairs instead of taking lifts (SIGN 2003).

There is evidence that increasing physical activity such as walking in children as young as four years is effective in treating and preventing overweight or obesity. Active commuting to school is an approach that has seen some success, and health care professionals, schools, local authorities and parents should be enabled to work together to see how this can be achieved. SIGN (2003) recommend that obese children should engage in brisk walking for a minimum of 30 minutes a day, and that healthy children should engage in at least 60 minutes of moderate physical activity per day.

- Reduction ofChildren should be encouraged to participate in active rather thansedentary behavioursedentary pursuits, with a particular focus on reduction in television
viewing, especially at mealtimes.
- Adjustment of
dietary intakeThe initiation and continuation of breast-feeding should be supported. A
healthy diet should be followed by the child and family. Education
regarding nutrition and developing healthy eating and lifestyle habits

should be the focus, rather than specific dietary regimes. The healthy approach to eating using the plate model is recommended as being easy to use (SIGN 2003) (see Figure 3) and can be accompanied by additional dietary advice (see Figure 3).

Children should be provided with regular meals and snacks, and 'grazing' all day should be avoided. (SIGN 2003). In addition, eating should be separated from other activities such as television viewing (SIGN 2003).

Rewards should not always be food-based, and comfort should include attention, listening and hugs, not food (SIGN 2003). Furthermore, children should be encouraged to listen to internal hunger cues and to eat to appetite (SIGN 2003).

When to refer a child This guidance is recommended in most cases for the prevention and management of childhood overweight and obesity. However, in some cases, urgent referral to specialists is appropriate before initiating treatment. SIGN (2003) suggest that referral to community or paediatric consultants is appropriate before treatment is initiated where:

- Children have serious obesity-related morbidity that requires weight loss (e.g. benign intracranial hypertension, sleep apnoea, obesity hypoventilation);
- Children are suspected of having an underlying medical condition causing obesity;
- Children are above or equal to the 99.6th percentile BMI.

Where additional behavioural interventions are required, specialist referral (for example to a psychologist) is appropriate and such specialist interventions should not be initiated by staff who do not have appropriate experience in these fields. Consideration of psychological and behavioural factors affecting nutrition are important but, generally, non-specialist health care staff should assess whether such referral is merited rather than attempting such therapy themselves.

Family focused care Involvement of the whole family is a key issue in the prevention and treatment of childhood overweight and obesity. Parents should be encouraged to role model healthy behaviour and to display consistent behaviours in relation to food (SIGN 2003). Thus, health care professionals must be able to work with whole families, and to address the complex issues of family dynamics, beliefs and values, and how healthy lifestyles can be developed by individuals. This is likely to require additional education and training to build confidence in this key aspect of care.

Ongoing intervention and support to embrace family involvement, dietary modification and exercise has been shown to be the most effective approach for assisting children to achieve sustained weight loss, with one-off consultations being regarded as relatively ineffective. Therefore, health care staff should design and facilitate ongoing intervention, support and monitoring for children and families who require treatment for overweight or obesity.

Creating healthy As well as active commuting to school, a healthy ethos in schools should be created to enable children to choose food and activities that promote health. This includes pricing and availability of snacks and meals, and encouraging active rather than sedentary pursuits in break times.

- Wider social issues Political and economic action to reduce a culture that promotes sedentary behaviour and poor eating habits should be addressed. This includes issues of safety, so as to enable outdoors activities, and social expectations that may create problems for parents engaging with their children in active pursuits.
- Health care Suskind et al. (2000) recommend that multidisciplinary programmes are the most effective for treating children and adolescents to ensure that maximum knowledge and skills are accessed. Specific staff groups are most likely to require refined skills and knowledge in this area. These are midwives, health visitors, school nurses, general practitioners, community paediatricians and paediatric dieticians.

Screening for overweight or obesity should be incorporated in developmental checks performed by general practitioners and health visitors.

Investigation into health care workers' knowledge, confidence and perceptions of their role in this area are merited, so that appropriate support and education can be designed and facilitated to enable them to provide the best possible input for children and their families.

30

References

ABRANTES MM, LAMOUNIER JA, COLOSIMO EA. (2003) Comparison of body mass index values proposed by Cole et al. (2000) and Must et al. (1991) for identifying obese children with weight-for-height index recommended by the World Health Organisation. *Public Health Nutrition* 6 (3): 307-11.

AGRAS WS, KRAEMER HC, BERKOVITZ RI, HAMMER LD. (1990) Influence of early feeding style on adiposity at 6 years of age. *Journal of Pediatrics* 116: 805-9.

AIHAUD G, GUESNET P. (2004) Fatty acid composition of fats is an early determinant of childhood obesity: a short review and opinion. *Obesity Reviews* 5 (1): 21-26.

AL SENDI AM, SHETTY P, MUSAIGER AO, MYATT M. (2003) Relationship between body composition and blood pressure in Bahrani adolescents. *British Journal of Nutrition* 90 (4): 83-844.

AMERICAN ACADEMY OF PEDIATRICS. (1997) Breast-feeding and the use of human milk: work group on breast-feeding. *Pediatrics* 100 (6): 1035-1039.

ARIZA AJ, GRENBERG RS, UNGER R. (2004) Childhood overweight: approaches to management in young children. *Pediatric Annals* 33 (1): 33-38.

ARMSTRONG J, DOROSTY AR, REILLY JJ. (2003) Coexistence of social inequalities in undernutrition and obesity in preschool children; population based cross-sectional study. *Archives of Diseases in Childhood* 88 (8): 61-69.

ARMSTRONG J, REILLY JJ, TEAM CHI. (2002) Breast-feeding and lowering the risk of childhood obesity. *The Lancet* 359: 2003-4.

ASAYAMA K, OZEKI T, SUGIHARA S, ITO K, OKADA T, TAMAI H, TAKAKYA R, HANAKI K, MURATA M. (2003) Criteria for medical intervention in obese children: a new definition of obesity disease in Japanese children. *Pediatrics International* 45: 642-646.

ASTRUP A. (2002) Dietary fat is a major player in obesity - but not the only one. *Obesity Review* 3: 57-8.

ATKIN LM, DAVIES PSW. (2000) Diet composition and body composition in preschool children. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 72: 15-21.

BAILES JR, STROW MT, WERTHAMMER J, MCGINNIS RA, ELITSUR Y. (2003) Effect of a low-carbohydrate, unlimited calorie diet on the treatment of childhood obesity: a prospective controlled study. *Metabolic Syndrome and Related Disorders* 1 (3): 221-225.

BALABAN G, SILVA GA. (2004) Protective effect of breast-feeding against childhood obesity. *Journal Pediatrics* 80 (1): 7-16.

BELL-ANDERSON KS, BRYSON JM. (2004) Leptin as a potential treatment of obesity: progress to date. *Treatments in Endocrinology* 3 (1): 11-18.

BELLISLE F, LUOIS-SYLVESTRE LINET N, ROCABOY B, DALLE B, CHERREAU F, L'HINORET D, GUYOT L. (1990) Anxiety and food intake in men. *Psychosomatic Medicine* 52: 452-457.

BERG F, BUECHNER J, PARHAM E. (2003) Guidelines for childhood obesity prevention programmes: promoting healthy weight in children. *Journal of Nutrition and Education Behaviour* 35 (1): 1-4.

BERGMANN KE, BERGMANN RL, VON KRIES R, BOHM O, RICHTER R, DUDENHAUSEN JW, WAHN U. (2003) Early determinants of childhood overweight and adiposity in a birth cohort study: role of breast-feeding. *International Journal of Obesity* 2 (2): 162-12.

BORZEKOWSKI DLG, ROBINSON TN. (2001) The 30-second effect: an experiment revealing the impact of television commercials on food preferences of preschoolers. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 101: 291-294.

BRAET C, CROMBEZ G. (2003) Cognitive interference due to food cues in childhood obesity. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology* 32 (1): 81-93.

BRUCH H. (1974) *Eating disorders: anorexia nervosa and the person within*. London, Routledge and Kegan.

BURNIAT W. (2002) *Child and Adolescent Obesity*. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press.

CABALLERO B. (2001) School health and community nutrition. *Public Health Nutrition* 4 (6A): 1335-1336.

CAMPBELL K, WATERS E, O'MEARA O, SUMMERBELL C. (2001) Interventions for preventing obesity in childhood. A systematic review. *The International Association for the study of Obesity. Obesity Reviews.* 2: 149-15.

CAROLI M, DE QUATROI G, TERMITE S, MARTUCCI V, MARTUCCI T, GUERRA V, LAGRAVINESE D. (1998) Emotional eating in 12-year-old children in the South of Italy. *International Journal of Obesity* 22: S18.

CAROLI M, LAGRAVINESE D. (2002) Prevention of obesity. *Nutrition Research* 22 (1-2): 221-226.

CARTER M, SWINBURN B. (2004) Measuring the 'obesogenic' food environment in New Zealand primary schools. *Health Promotion International* 19 (1): 15-20.

CENTRE FOR REVIEWS AND DISSEMINATION. (2002) The Prevention and Treatment of Childhood Obesity (Provisional Record). *Effective Health Care* 7 (6): 8.

CHEN M, YOU Y, ZHAO YZ, YANG X. (2002) Influences of diet and nutrition on obesity in preschool children (in Chinese). *Wei Sheng Yan Jiu* 31 (5): 370-372.

CLEMENT K, BOUNTIN P, FROGUEL P. (2002) Genetics of obesity. *American Journal of Pharmacogenetics* 2 (3): 1-18.

CLIFFORD TJ. (2003) Breast-feeding and obesity – the evidence regarding its effect on obesity is inconclusive. (Editorial). *British Medial Journal* 327: 879-880.

COAKLEY A (2003) Food or 'virtual' food? The construction of children's food in a global economy. *International Journal of Consumer Studies* 2 (4): 335-340.

COLE TJ, BELLIZZI MC, FLEGAL KM, DIETZ WH. (2000) Establishing a standard definition for child overweight and obesity worldwide: international survey. *British Medical Journal* 320: 1240.

COON KA, GOLBERG J, ROGERS BL, TUCKER KL. (2001) Relationships between the use of television during meals and children's food consumption patterns. *Pediatrics* 10 (1): 16. COOPER AC, PAGE AS, FOSTER LJ, QAHWAJI D. (2003) Commuting to school: are children who walk more physically active? *American Journal of Preventative Medicine* 25 (4): 23-26.

DAVIDSON KK, BIRCH LL. (2001) Childhood overweight: a contextual model and recommendations for future research. *Obesity Reviews* 2 (3): 159.

DAVIDSON PL, GOULDING A, CHALMERS DJ. (2003) Biochemical analysis of arm fracture in obese boys. *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health* 39: 65-664.

DENZER C, REIHOIFER E, WABITSCH M, WIDHALM K. (2004) The outcome of childhood obesity management depends on high patient compliance. *European Journal of Pediatrics* 163 (2): 99-104.

DROHAN SH. (2002) Managing early childhood obesity in the primary care setting: a behaviour modification approach. *Pediatric Nursing* 28 (6): 599-610.

EDWARDS CA, PARRETT AM. (2003) Dietary fibre in infancy and childhood. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society* 62: 1-23.

EHTISHAM S, BARRETT TG. (2004) The emergence of type 2 diabetes in childhood. *Annuls of Chemical Biochemistry* 41 (1): 10-16.

ELRICK H, SAMARAS TT, DEMAS A. (2002) Missing links in the obesity epidemic. *Nutrition Research* 22 (10): 1101-1123.

ETELSON D, BRAND DA, PATRICK PA, SHIRALI A. (2003) Childhood obesity: do parents recognise this health risk? *Obesity Research* 11 (11): 1362-1368.

ETO C, KOMIYA S, NAKAO T, KIKKAWA K. (2004) Validity of body mass index and fat mass index as an indicator of obesity in children aged 3-5 years. *Journal of Physiology ands Anthropology Applied to Human Science* 23 (1): 25-30.

FOMON SJ, ROGERS RR, ZIEGLER EE, NELSON SE, THOMAS LN. (1984) Indices of fatness and serum cholesterol at age eight years in relation to feeding and growth during early infancy. *Pediatric Research* 18:1233-1238.

FOX KR. (2004) Childhood obesity and the role of physical activity. *Journal of the Royal Society of Health* 124 (1): 34-39.

GASSPARINI E, RONDOINA C, PIANELLI G, FABIANI E, D'ANGELO G, CATASSI COPPA GV. (2003) Treatment of childhood obesity. Long term outcome and pro factors in a group of 130 subjects (in Italian). *Minerva Pediatria* 55 (1): 33-41.

GIBSON SA. (1996) Are high-fat, high-sugar foods and diets conducive to obesity? *International Journal of Food Science and Nutrition* 47 (5): 405-415.

GILLMAN MW, RIFAS-SHIMAN SL, CAMARGO CA, BERKEY CS, FRAZIER L, ROCKETT HRH. (2001) Risk of overweight among adolescents who were breast-fed as infants. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 285: 2461-2467.

GIUGLIANO R, CARNEIRO EC. (2004) Factors associated with obesity in school children. *Journal de Pediatria* 80 (1): 17-22.

GOLAN M, CROW S. (2004) Parents are key players in the prevention and treatment of weight related problems. 62 (1): 39-50.

GOLAN M, WEIZMAN A. (2001) Familial approach to the treatment of childhood obesity: conceptual model. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior* 33 (2): 102-110.

GRAF C, KOCH B, KRETSCHMANN-KANDEL E, FALKOWSKI G, CHRIST H, COBURGER S, LEHMACHER W, BJARNASON-WEHRENS B, PLATEN P, TOKARSKI W, PREDEL HG, DORDEL S. (2004) Correlation between BMI, leisure habits and motor abilities in childhood. *International Journal of Obesity* 28 (1): 22-26.

HAMPL JS, HEATON CL, TAYLOR CA. (2003) Snacking patterns influence energy and nutrient intakes but not body mass index. *Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics* 16 (1): 3-11.

HARRELL JS, PEARCE PF, HAYMAN LL. (2003) Fostering prevention in the pediatric population. *Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing* 18 (2): 144-149.

HESKETH K, WAKE M, WATERS E, CARLIN J, CRAWFORD D. (2004) Stability of body mass index in Australian Children: a prospective cohort study across the childhood years. *Public Health Nutrition* (2): 303-309. HODGES EA. (2003) A primer on early childhood obesity and parental influence. *Pediatric Nursing* 29 (1): 13-6.

HOTU S, CARTER B, WATSON P, CUTFIELD W, CUNDY T. (2004) Increasing prevalence of type 2 diabetes in adolescents. *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health* 40 (4): 201-204.

JEFFREY J, GORN G, GOLDBERG M. (1982) Behavioural evidence of the effects of television food messages on children. *Journal of Consumer Research* 9: 200-205.

KARASALIHOGLU S, ONER N, EKUKLU G, VATANSEVER U, PALA O. (2003) Body mass index percentiles among adolescent girls living in Edirne, Turkey. *Pediatrics International* 45: 452-455.

KAUR H, HYDER ML, POSTON WSC. (2003) Childhood overweight: an expanding problem. *Treatments in Endocrinology* 2 (6): 375-388.

KELLEY C, KRUMMEL D, GONZALES EN, NEAL WA, FITCH CW. (2004) Dietary intake of children at high risk of cardiovascular disease. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 104 (2): 222-225.

KENHANS AW. (2002) Childhood obesity: why is this happening to our children? *Journal of the Oklahoma Medical Association* 95 (8): 539-544.

KIMM SYS (2003) Nature versus nurture in childhood obesity: a familiar old conundrum. Editorial. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 8 (6): 1051-1052.

KINRA S, NELDER RP, LEWENDON GJ. (2000) Deprivation and childhood obesity: a cross-sectional study of 20,973 children in Plymouth, United Kingdom. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 54 (6): 456-460.

KRAMER MS. (1981) Do breast-feeding and delayed introduction of solid foods protect against subsequent obesity? *Journal of Pediatrics* 98: 883-887.

KRAMER MS, BARR RG, LEDUC DG, BOISJOLY C, MCVEY-WHITE L, PLESS B. (1985a) Determinants of weight and adiposity in the first year of life. *Journal of Pediatrics* 106: 10-14.

KRAMER MS, BARR RG, LEDUC DG, BOISJOLY C, PLESS B. (1985b) Infant determinants of childhood weight and adiposity. *Journal of Pediatrics* 107: 104-107. VON KRIES R, KOLETZKO B, SAUERWALD T, VON MUTIUS E, BARNERT D, GRUNERT V. (1999) Breast-feeding and obesity: cross-sectional study. *British Medical Journal* 319:147-150.

LEWIS MK, HILL AJ. (1998) Food advertising on British children's television: a content analysis and experimental study with nine-year olds. *International Journal of Obesity and Related Metabolic Disorders* 22 (3): 206-214.

LI L, PARSONS TJ, POWER C. (2003) Breast-feeding and obesity in childhood: cross-sectional study. *British Medical Journal* 327: 904-905.

LIESE AD, HIRSH T, VON MUTIUS E, KEIL U, LEUPOLD W, WEILAND SK. (2001) Inverse association of overweight and breast-feeding in 9 to 10-year-old children in Germany. *International Journal of Obesity and Related Metabolic Disorders* 25: 1644-1650.

LIVIERI LA, DI PIETRO C, BERGAMASCHI ME, MAFFEIS GC. (2003) Definition of obesity in childhood: criteria and limits. *Minerva pediatria* 55 (5): 453-459.

LIVINGSTONE MBE, ROBSON PJ, WALLACE JMW, MCKINLEY MC. (2003) How active are we? Level of routine physical activity in children and adults. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society* 62 (3): 681-701.

LOBSTEIN T, FRELUT M-L. (2003) Prevalence of overweight among children in Europe. *Obesity Reviews* 4: 195-200.

MALLAM KM, MATCALF BS, KIRKBY J, VOSS LD, WILKIN TJ. (2003) Contribution of timetabled physical education to total physical activity in primary school children: cross sectional study. *British Medical Journal*. 327 (415): 592-593.

MARILD S, HANSSON S, JODAL U, ODEN A, SVEDBERG K. (2004) Protective effect of breast-feeding against urinary tract infection. *Acta Paediatrica* 93 (2): 164-168.

MARTIN LR, FRIEDMAN HS, TUCKER JS, TOMLINSON-KEASY C, CRIQUI MH, SCHWARTZ JE. (2002) A life course perspective on childhood cheerfulness and its relation to mortality risk. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin* 28 (9): 1155-1165.

MARTIN RM, NESS AR, GUNNELL D, EMMETT P, SMITH GD. (2004) Does breast-feeding in infancy lower blood pressure in childhood? *Circulation* 109: 1259-1266. MCCARTHY HD, JARRETT KV, CRAWLEY HF. (2001) The development of waist circumference percentiles in British children aged 5.0-16.9 years. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 55 (10) 902-907.

MCLENNAN J. (2004) Obesity in children. Tackling a growing problem. *Australian Family Physician* 33 (1-2): 33-36.

MOORE LL, DI GAO AS, BRADLEE ML, CIPPLES LA, SUNDARAJAN-RAMAMURTI A, PROCTOR MH, HOOD MY, SINGER MR, ELLISON RC. (2003) Does early physical activity predict body fat changes throughout childhood? *Preventive Medicine* 3 (1): 10-17.

MORAN O, PHILLIP M. (2003) Leptin: obesity, diabetes and other peripheral effects: a review. *Pediatric Diabetes* 4 (2): 101-109.

MO-SUWAN L, PONGPRAPAI S, JUNJANA C, PUETPAIBOON A. (1998) Effects of a controlled trail of a school-based exercise program on the obesity index of pre-school children. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 68: 1006-1011.

NEUMARK-SZTAINER D, HANNAN PJ. (2000) Weight related behaviours amongst adolescent girls and boys: results of a national survey. *Archives of Pediatric Adolescent Medicine* 154: 569-577.

NGUYEN VT, LARSON DE, JOHNSON RK, GORAN MI. (1996) Fat intake and adiposity in children of lean and obese parents. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 63: 507-513.

O'CALLAGHAN MJ, WILLIAMS GM, ANDERSEN MJ, BOR W, NAJMAN JM. (1997) Prediction of obesity in children at 5 years: a cohort study. *Journal of Pediatrics and Child Health* 33: 311-316.

OLIVERIA AS, ELLISON RC, MOORE LL, GILLMAN MW, GARRAHIE EJ, SINGER MR. (1992) Parent-child relationship in nutrient intake: the Framingham Children's Study. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 56: 593-598.

PHILLIPS RG, HILL AJ. (1998) Fat, plain, but not friendless: self-esteem and peer acceptance of obese pre-adolescent girls. *International Journal of Nursing Studies* 22 (4): 287-293.

PINHAS-HAMIEL O, ZEITLER P. (2000) "Who is the wise man" – the one who foresees consequences: childhood obesity, new associated comorbidity and prevention. *Preventive Medicine* 31 (6): 702-705.

RAMACHANDRAN A, SNEHALATHA C, VINITHA R, THAYYIL M, KUMAR S, SHEEBA L, JOSEPH S, VIJAY V. (2002) Prevalence of overweight in urban Indian adolescent school children. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice* 5 (3): 185-190.

REILLY JJ, JACKSON DM, MONTGOMERY C, KELLY LA, SLATER C, GRANT S, PATON JY. (2004) Total energy expenditure and physical activity in young Scottish children: mixed longitudinal study. *The Lancet* 363 (9404): 211-212.

REILLY JJ, MCDOWELL ZC. (2003) Physical activity interventions in the prevention and treatment of paediatric obesity: systematic review and critical appraisal. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society* 62 (3): 611-619.

REINEHR T, KERSTING M, ALEXY U, ANDLER W. (2003) Long term follow up of overweight children: after training, and single consultation sessions, and without treatment. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition* 37 (1): 2-4.

ROBINSON TN. (1999) Reducing children's television viewing to prevent obesity. A randomised controlled trail. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 282: 1561-1567.

ROLLAND-CACHERA MF. (2004) Massive obesity in adolescents: dietary interventions and behaviours associated with weight regain at 2-year follow-up. *International Journal of Obesity* 28 (4): 514-519.

ROLLAND-CACHERA MF, DEHEEGER M, AKROUT M, BELLISLE F. (1995) Influence of macronutrients on adiposity development: a follow up study of nutrition and growth from 10 months to 8 years of age. *International Journal of Obesity and Related Metabolic Disorders* 19 (8): 573-578.

RUXTON C. (2004) Obesity in children. Nursing Standard 18 (2): 47-54.

RUXTON CH, KIRK TR, BELTON NR, HOLMES NA. (1996) Energy and nutrient intakes in a sample of 136 Edinburgh 7-8 year olds: a comparison with United Kingdom dietary reference values. *British Journal of Nutrition* 75 (2): 151-160.

SADAUSKAITE-KUEHNE V, LUDVIGSSON J, PADAIGA Z, JASINSKIENE E, SAMUELSSON V. (2004) Longer breast-feeding is an independent protective factor against development of type 1 diabetes mellitus in childhood. *Diabetes Metabolism Research Reviews* 20 (2): 150-157.

SAHOTA P, RUDOLF MCJ, DIXEY R. (2001) Randomised controlled trail of a primary school-based intervention to reduce risk factors for obesity. *British Medical Journal* 323: 1029-1032.

SCHWARTZ MB, PUHL R. (2003) Childhood obesity: a societal problem to solve. *Obesity Review* 4 (1): 57-71.

SCOTTISH INTERCOLLEGIATE GUIDELINES NETWORK (SIGN). (2003) *Management of Obesity in Children and Young People*. Edinburgh, SIGN.

SPAGNOLI TD, BIOLETTI L, BO C, FORMIGATTI M. (2003) TV, overweight and nutritional surveillance. Ads content, food intake and physical activity. *Annali di Igiene* 15 (5): 611-620.

ST ONGE MP, KELLER KL, HEYMSFIELD SB. (2003) Changes in childhood food consumption patterns; a cause for concern in light of increasing body weights. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 8 (6): 1068-1073.

STORY MT, NEUMARK-STZAINER DR, SHERWOOD NE, HOLT K, SOFKA D, TROWBRIDGE FL, BARLOW SE. (2002) Management of childhood and adolescent obesity: attitudes, barriers skills and training needs amongst health care professionals. *Pediatrics* 110 (1-2): 210-214.

STRAUSS R. (1999) Childhood obesity. *Current Problems In Paediatrics* 29 (1): 1-29.

SUMMERBELL CD, ASHTON V, CAMPBELL KJ, EDMUNDS L, KELLY S, WATERS E. (2004) Interventions for treating obesity in children (Cochrane Review). In: *The Cochrane Library*, Issue 2, 2004. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

SUSKIND R, BLECVKER U, UDALL J, VON ALMEN T, SCHUMACHER H, CARR SOTHERN M. (2000) Recent advances in the treatment of childhood obesity. *Pediatric Diabetes* 1 (1): 23-33.

THAIBAULT H, ROLLAND-CACHERA MF. (2003) Prevention strategies of childhood obesity. *Archives de Pediatrie* 10 (12): 1100-1108.

TOMKINS A. (2001) Vitamin and mineral nutrition for the health and development of the children of Europe. *Public Health Nutrition* 4 (1A): 91-99.

TREMBLAY MS, WILLMS JD. (2003) Is the Canadian childhood obesity epidemic related to physical inactivity? *International Journal of Obesity Related Metabolic Disorders* 2 (9): 1100-1105.

TROIANO RP, BRIEFEL RR, CARROL MD, BIALOSTOSKY K. (2000) Energy and fat intakes of children and adolescents in the United States: data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 72 (Suppl 5): S1343-1353.

TUDOR-LOCKE C, AINSWORTH BE, POPKIN BM. (2001) Active commuting to school: an overlooked source of children's physical activity. *Sports Medicine* 31 (5): 309-315.

TULLDAHL J, PETTERSSON K, ANDERSSON SW, HULTHEN L. (1999) Mode of infant feeding and achieved growth in adolescence: early feeding patterns in relation to growth and body composition in adolescence. *Obesity Research* 7: 431-437.

TURNBULL A, BARRY D, WICKENS K, CRANE J. (2004) Changes in Body mass index in 11-12 Year old children in Hawkes Bay, New Zealand. *Journal of Pediatric and Child Health* 40: 33-37.

VANDEWATER EA, SHIM MS, CAPLOVITZ AG. (2004) Linking obesity and activity level with children's television and video game use. *Journal of Adolescence* 27 (1): 71-85.

WADSWORTH M, MARSHALL S, HARDY R, PAUL A. (1999) Breastfeeding and obesity. Relation may be accounted for by social factors. *British Medical Journal* 319:1576.

WARDEN NAS, WARDEN CH. (2001) Biological influences on obesity. *Pediatric Clinics of North America* 48:1-8.

WATERLAND RA, GARZA C. (1999) Potential mechanisms of metabolic imprinting that lead to chronic disease. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 69:179-197.

WATERLAND RA, GARZA C. (2002) Potential for metabolic imprinting by nutritional perturbation of epigenetic gene regulation. *Public Health Issues in Infant and Child Nutrition* 48: 317-333.

WEHLING WAK, MCCARTHY AM. (2002) A healthy lifestyle program: promoting child health in school children. *Journal of School Nursing* 18 (6): 322-328.

WESTENHOEFER J. (2002) Establishing dietary habits during childhood for long-term weight control. *Annuls of Nutrition and Metabolism* 46 (supplement 1): 18-23.

WHITAKER RC, SHERMAN SN, CHAMBERLIN LA, POWERS SW. (2004) Altering the perceptions of WIC health professionals about childhood obesity using video with facilitated group discussion. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 104 (3): 379-386.

WILLET WC. (2002) Dietary fat plays a major role in obesity: no. *Obesity Review* 3: 59-68.

WILSON P. (2003) Tackling childhood obesity. *Professional Nurse* 18 (6): 310.

YOSHINAGA M, SHIMAGO A, KORIYAMA C, NOMURA Y, MIYATA K, HASHIGUCHI J, ARIMA K. (2004) Rapid increase in the prevalence of obesity in elementary school children. *International Journal of Obesity Related Metabolic Disorders* 28 (4): 494-499.

ZAMETKIN AJ, ZOON CK, KLEIN HW, MUNSON S. (2004) Psychiatric aspects of child and adolescent obesity: a review of the past ten years. *Journal of Academic Child and Adolescent Psychiatry* 43 (2): 151-153.

ZIVE MM, MCKAY H, FRANK-SPOHRER GC, BROYLES, SL, NELSON JA, NADER PR. (1992) Infant-feeding practices and adiposity in 4-yearold Anglo- and Mexican-Americans. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 55 (6): 1104-1108.

Appendix 1

Boy's BMI Chart

Reproduced with permission from the Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network.



Appendix 2

Girl's BMI Chart

Reproduced with permission from the Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network.



Appendix 3

Healthy Eating Guidance (SIGN 2003)

Birth to five years	Breast milk is the food of choice for infants. Introduction of solid foods
,	should be delayed until between four and six months of age. Weaning is
	best done gradually with small amounts of pureed fruit or vegetables, or
	rice or other gluten-free cereal.
	best done gradually with small amounts of pureed fruit or vegetables, or rice or other gluten-free cereal.

From six months, the range of foods introduced should be gradually increased. Full fat versions of dairy products should be used. Starchy food and very high fibre foods should be avoided.

From age two, gradual introduction of low fat dairy products can be considered for children who are growing well and eating a varied diet.

Children from approximately one year should eat three meals a day and two between-meal snacks. Foods high in fat and sugar are not needed.

Children over five Approximately one third of the child's intake should be composed of carbohydrates, one third fruit and vegetables, and smaller amounts from meat, fish and low-fat dairy products. Although not necessary for good health, fatty, sugary foods in small amounts can be part of a normal healthy diet.

Fluid intake should be adequate and suitable drinks are water, low fat milk, very well diluted low calorie diluting juices and diluted fruit juice.

The diagram of 'The Eating for Health Plate' can be helpful to assist children and their families to plan their eating.

In addition, children should:

- Eat regularly;
- Include bread, pasta, cereals, rice or potatoes at every meal;
- Eat some form of fruit or vegetables at every meal;
- Limit foods that are high in sugar, such as sweets or chocolate;
- Limit foods that are high in fat such as crisps, chips and pastries;
- Limit fried foods;
- Meals and snacks should be provided at regular times. Avoid 'grazing' all day.

Healthy Eating Plate Model

Reproduced with permission from the Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network.

